IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID MILLER,

Appellant,

vs.

APPEAL NO. SC04-892

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

_____ /

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD
ATTORNEY AT LAW
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 322059

P.O. BOX 811
BARTOW, FL 33831
(863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The instant appeal arises from the denial of the Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief by the trial court. This is a capital proceeding. The record on appeal consists of ten volumes. Volumes I-VI contain the documents filed with the clerk and will be referenced in the Initial Brief by volume number, "R", and the appropriate page number. The remaining volumes contain the transcripts, which will be referenced in the Initial Brief by volume number, "T", and the appropriate page number.

The Appellant, David Miller, will be referred to as Mr. Miller. The Appellee, the State of Florida, will be referred to as the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

David Miller was indicted by the Grand Jury, Duval County, Florida, for the first-degree murder of Albert Floyd and the aggravated battery of Linda Fullwood. (I,R174) Mr. Miller was convicted by a jury of first-degree murder on June 26, 1998 and the same jury returned a death recommendation by a vote of 7-5. (I,R174) The trial court sentenced Mr. Miller to death on July 24, 1998. (I,R174;II,R249-252)

Mr. Miller was also sentenced to 25 years incarceration for aggravated battery as a habitual violent felony offender. (II,R253-256)

Mr. Miller challenged his conviction and sentence in this Court. Both conviction and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal. Miller v. State, 770 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 2000), rehearing denied, (October 24, 2000).

Mr. Miller, through counsel, filed a "shell" Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on September 27, 2001, in order to toll the time periods for federal habeas corpus relief. (I,R52-81) The State moved for summary denial on October 26, 2001. (I,R93-99) On January 23, 2002, the trial court granted the State's motion for summary denial and granted an additional 30 days for the filing of an Amended Motion. (I,R156-157) The parties stipulated to an order holding the Amended Motion would relate back to the October 2, 2001 filing date.

The Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence was filed on March 11, 2002. (I,R173-200;II,R201-267) The Amended Motion raised sixteen claims for relief, summarized as follows:

Claim I: Unconstitutionality of public records exemption and accompanying prejudice arising from deadline for the filing of the motion prior to receipt of all

public records. (I,R175-181)

Claim II: Ineffective assistance of trial counsel in failing to investigate and utilize available evidence; to challenge state's case; to properly object; to request jury instructions; and to present mitigation where the mental state of Mr. Miller was at issue; and to properly present a voluntary intoxication defense. (I,R181-200;II,R201-209)

Claim III: Ineffective assistance of trial counsel in failing to object to improper and inflammatory closing arguments of the prosecutor in both guilty and penalty phase. (II,R209-215A)

Claim IV: Ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation and failing to provide necessary materials to a mental health consultant in order to ensure that a proper evaluation was conducted.

Claim V: Unconstitutionality of the death penalty due to the use of unconstitutional aggravating factors and accompanying jury instructions including prior violent felony and pecuniary gain. (II,R219-221)

Claim VI: Unconstitutionality of the death sentence due to repeated instructions which denigrate the significance of the jury sentencing recommendation. (II,R221-224)

Claim VII: Unconstitutional shifting of the burden of proof to the defendant as to appropriateness of the death penalty and as to the demonstration of mitigating factors and aggravating circumstances. (II,R224-226)

Claim VIII: Unconstitutional limitations on counsel conducting juror interviews. (II,R226-229)

Claim IX: Execution by lethal injection/electrocution

is cruel and unusual punishment. (II,R229-231)

Claim X: Execution of the incompetent is cruel and unusual. (II,R231)

Claim XI: Unconstitutionality of the death penalty due to arbitrary and capricious imposition (II,R232)

Claim XII: Denial of adequate direct appellate review due to deficient record on appeal. (II,R232-235)

Claim XIII: Ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to adequately investigate and present mitigating factors present in the prior convictions of Mr. Miller. (II,R235-237)

Claim XIV: Unconstitutional use of the contemporaneous felony convictions to satisfy the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance. (II,R237-238)

Claim XV: Unconstitutionality of non-unanimous sentencing recommendation for death. (II,R238-244)

The State filed their response on May 9, 2002. (II,R286-307) The State asserted that no relief was warranted and no hearing was necessary on Claims I and VXIV. (II,R290;298;299;300;302-306) The State agreed that the hearing was necessary on Claims Ii; III and IV. (II,R294;296)

The trial court conducted a *Huff* hearing on September 17, 2002. (X,T1287) Defense counsel then supplemented

claims 6, 7, 9, 14, 15 and 16 with *Ring* claims. (X,T1291-1292) The State continued to oppose an evidentiary hearing on any claims other than claims 2, 3 and 4. (X,T1294) Defense counsel requested an evidentiary hearing on any claim containing an element of ineffective assistance of counsel. (X,T1294-1300) Defense counsel agreed that no evidentiary hearing was necessary on claims 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14. (X,T1303-1317)

The trial court issued an Order on October 2, 2002, granting an evidentiary hearing on Claims 2-4, 8, and 13. (II,R397) The trial court ruled that no hearing was necessary on Claims 14, 15 and 16. (II,R397)

On June 20, 2003, defense counsel Heidi Brewer advised the trial court that Mr. Miller would need to have new counsel appointed to him due to the closing of the Office of Capital Collateral Representatives as the result of legislative action. (IC,R712-717) The trial court then reappointed Ms. Brewer as registry counsel. (IC,R727-728) Co-Counsel, Robert A. Norgard, was appointed on October 6, 2003. (IV,R759)

An evidentiary hearing was conducted before the Honorable Haldane Taylor, Circuit Judge, on November 4-5, 2003. (IX;X) Written closing arguments were submitted by

both the State and defense counsel. (IV,R775-798;V,R799-838) Final oral argument to the court by each of the parties was held on February 9, 2004. (X,T1776-1828)

The trial court entered an order denying the Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on April 23, 2004. (V,R841-1000;VI,R1001-1177).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on May 7, 2004. (VI,R1178-1179)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following summarizes the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing on November 4-5, 2004:

Refik Eler represented Mr. Miller at his trial. (IX,T1482) Mr. Eler's ultimate goal in this case was to get a life recommendation from the jury. (IX,T1559) He didn't feel there was much of a guilt phase. (IX,T1559)

Mr. Eler began to practice law in 1986 with the State Attorney's Office. (IX,T1483) Mr. Eler stayed in county court for six to nine months, then moved into the Special Prosecution Division specializing in economic crime. (IT,1484) Mr. Eler did not prosecute any first-degree murder cases to trial. He served as second chair on one first-degree case, basically completing work assigned to

him by the lead attorney. (T,R1483) That case did not go to trial. (IX,T1484)

Mr. Eler left the State Attorney's Office in 1989 to enter private practice, where he continues at the present time. (IX,T1484) Since 1989 Mr. Eler has tried or co-tried six or seven cases where the death penalty was sought. (IX,T1485) Mr. Eler served as lead counsel in penalty phase in roughly half of those cases. (IX,T1487)

Mr. Eler attended the public defender sponsored "Life Over Death" training seminars. (IX,T1487) From 1989 through trial in this case Mr. Eler attended more than six training seminars. (IX-T1488) Mr. Eler had a copy of the training manual Defending Capital Cases in Florida. (IX,T1489) He had read the manual. (IX,T1489)

Mr. Eler believed that a defense lawyer was responsible for investigating mitigation and narrowing it into a fashion that jurors could understand. (IX,T1489-90) Collecting records and talking to family members were the investigative means Mr. Eler generally used to gather mitigation information. (IX,T1490)

In Mr. Miller's case the Public Defender had done a substantial amount of the mitigation investigation, so Mr. Eler was "pretty fortunate". (IX,T1490)

When investigating mental health issues Mr. Eler seeks a confidential expert to determine competency, but pretty much defers to the expert for any follow-up. (IX,T1491) Dr. Harry Krop was already working on this case when Mr. Eler took over because he had been retained by the Public Defender. (IX,T1491) Mr. Eler believed that Dr. Krop was a leading expert in the areas of psychology and neuropsychology. (IC,T1492) Mr. Eler acknowledged that the decision about what evidence to present to a jury or the court is a decision that the attorney must make. (IX,T1499)

Mr. Eler presented the testimony of Dr. Krop during the penalty phase on two areas: (1) to establish a non-statutory mitigating factor of frontal lobe deficit and (2) to establish Mr. Miller's ability to adjust to long-term incarceration. (IX,T1493) Some evidence of drug and alcohol usage was testified to by Dr. Krop as well. (IX,T1493)

Mr. Eler acknowledged that using a mental health professional to develop mitigation is extremely important. (IX,T1497) A mental health professional can offer testimony as to the psychological impact that dysfunctional familial acts have upon an individual. (IX,T1497) This opinion would be outside the scope of what the family members would be able to testify to. (IX,T1495)

Only three family members, Dr. Krop, and Mr. Miller testified at penalty phase. (IX,T1495) The family members testified briefly during penalty phase about the dysfunctional family situation, with very limited testimony of childhood abuse and parental alcoholism. (IX,T1495) Dr. Krop did not testify about any psychological impact these events had on Mr. Miller.

Mr. Eler believed that Dr. Krop interviewed Mr. Miller's family members. (IX,T1496) Dr. Krop had asked permission from the public defender to do this. (IX,T1496) Mr. Eler believed that Dr. Krop had the benefit of background materials on Mr. Miller and had talked with the family and Mr. Miller. (IX,T1498) Mr. Eler felt that Dr. Krop would have been able to offer an expert opinion as to the psychological impact that the abusive childhood and dysfunctional family had on Mr. Miller. (IX,T1499) Dr. Krop did not testify as to the psychological impact the events of childhood had on Mr. Miller.

Mr. Eler acknowledged that the sentencing order of the trial court referenced the death of one of Mr. Miller's siblings and the death of his cousin. However, the order stated that an absence of testimony in either the guilt or penalty phase as to the emotional trauma suffered by Mr.

Miller as a result of the deaths led to a determination that this mitigation evidence was entitled to little weight by the trial judge. (IX,T1502)

Likewise, very little evidence of childhood abuse and a dysfunctional family was presented as mitigation. (IX,T1503) Mr. Eler agreed that he failed to present evidence relating to the psychological trauma suffered by Mr. Miller as a result of these abuses, though such evidence could have been developed through a mental health professional. (IX,T1503) Mr. Eler acknowledged that this evidence would have been important for the jury and trial judge to hear. (IX,T1504) Mr. Eler's reason for not presenting this testimony was because he didn't think that Dr. Krop told him that this was a feature he needed to bring out. (IX,T1504)

Some evidence was presented through Mr. Miller's mother, Yvonne Jordan, a sister, and a brother of Mr. Miller's history of drug and alcohol abuse. (IX,T1504) Mr. Eler recalled that their testimony had been that Mr. Miller began using alcohol at age 18 or 19 while he was in the Navy, and that it made him more talkative. (IX,T1505) Once again, Mr. Eler did not ask Dr. Krop to testify about the various psychological and emotional ramifications of a

substance abuse disorder and the long term effect it would have had on Mr. Miller and how such long-term addictions would have affected Mr. Miller's judgment on the night of the homicide. (IX,T1506) Mr. Eler only focused on Mr. Miller's drug/alcohol usage on the night of the incident. Mr. Eler did not try to present any evidence which would have established Mr. Miller's attempts at treatment and the systemic failures of those treatment programs. (IX,T1509)

No medical records relating to Mr. Miller's mental health were presented to the jury. (IX,T1509) Mr. Eler thought that some information in the records was detrimental to Mr. Miller and didn't want to admit that evidence to the jury. (IX,T1510) Mr. Eler agreed that the records contained much relevant mitigation evidence. (IX,T1511)

Mr. Eler admitted to being familiar with the concept of motions in limine. (IX,T1568) He will usually file a motion in limine if he anticipates a problem with evidence. (IX,T1568) He doesn't usually anticipate potential areas of improper argument by the State that would necessitate a motion in limine. (IX,T1569) Mr. Eler did not seek a pretrial ruling from the court to determine what the court would have permitted the State to introduce

as rebuttal evidence to the information contained in the medical records. (IX,T1513) Mr. Eler couldn't remember what was in the records that he thought was so bad that it justified excluding all the records, he could recall only one item in the records that referred to one instance of aggressive behavior by Mr. Miller during treatment. This consisted of a statement that Mr. Miller had pushed another patient. (IX,T1513)

Mr. Eler believed that showing a defendant has had previous involuntary hospitalizations due to mental health issues was detrimental. (IX,T1514) Mr. Eler thought evidence of mental illness which required hospitalization would undercut an argument that Mr. Miller was a good candidate for rehabilitation in prison. (IX,T1514) In Mr. Eler's opinion the fact that a defendant had been previously committed to a mental institution was something he would never want a jury to hear. (IX,T1515) When asked why a diagnosis of alcohol dependence with psychological dependence, cocaine dependence with psychological dependence, cannabis abuse, and schizoid personality disorder three or four months before the murder occurred was not relevant mitigation and how that evidence would open the door to testimony that Mr. Miller pushed someone

in the mental hospital, Mr. Eler only responded that Dr. Krop considered these things. (IX,T1516) Mr. Eler acknowledged that he did not have Dr. Krop testify about Mr. Miller's many contacts with mental health agencies and his involuntary hospitalization for attempting to harm himself and his brother three or four months prior to the homicide. (IX,T1517;1519) Mr. Eler did not have Dr. Krop testify about the life-long adult addiction to drugs and alcohol suffered by Mr. Miller and the psychological and emotional impact those addictions had on him. (XI,T1518) Mr. Eler presented no evidence of the treatment that Mr. Miller had sought during his life. (XI,T1518)

Mr. Eler first claimed that he did not present all the above-referenced testimony because it would have been detrimental to Mr. Miller. (XI,T1521) Mr. Eler could not offer a single negative point that Dr. Krop could have been cross-examined on if he had testified about what the alcohol and drug problems meant to Mr. Miller. (IX,T1521)

Mr. Eler finally acknowledged that "I'm not sure that would have been a bad thing" to have had Dr. Krop testify in this area. (IX,T1521)

Mr. Eler didn't know if Dr. Krop evaluated Mr. Miller to determine the level and effect of the trauma he suffered

as a result of the death of his sibling and cousin. (IX,T1516) Mr. Eler didn't present any testimony by Dr. Krop on this issue, he only presented the fact that a sister and neighbor had died. (XI,T1516) Mr. Eler could not point to any bad things that would have come out had Dr. Krop testified in this area. (IX,T1522) Mr. Eler then claimed he didn't present this testimony because he deferred to Dr. Krop (IX,T1522) Mr. Eler admitted that the lawyer asks the questions in court, not the doctor. (XI,T1522)

Mr. Eler did not have Dr. Krop testify as to the psychological impact childhood abuse and a dysfunctional family had on Mr. Miller. (IX,T1518) Mr. Eler chose not to follow up on any of the psychological testimony, despite having it available to him. (XI,T1519-1520) While believing such evidence was detrimental, he did choose to present some very limited factual testimony about alcohol usage and childhood abuse only from family members.

Mr. Eler agreed that a defense attorney has the duty to exclude or minimize the aggravating circumstances the state relies upon. (IX,T1522) In this case Mr. Miller had a previous conviction for second-degree murder in North Carolina. (IX,T1522) Mr. Eler recalled that Mr. Miller had

pled guilty to that offense. (IX,T1522) Mr. Eler could not recall presenting any evidence or making any argument to the jury to mitigate this prior conviction other than the fact of the guilty plea. (IX,T1522-1523)

Mr. Eler was familiar with the circumstances surrounding the prior second-degree murder conviction. Mr. Eler knew that Mr. Miller had been evaluated by two mental health professionals because of mental health issues in that previous case and the North Carolina judge made specific findings that mental problems significantly reduced Mr. Miller's culpability for that offense. (IC,T1523;1572) He did not present any evidence of the judicial findings made in North Carolina which mitigated the prior conviction to the jury or trial court in this case. (IX,T1523;1572)

Mr. Eler did not think that it was important to present evidence of the circumstances surrounding a prior conviction to the judge or jury. (IX,T1524) Mr. Eler acknowledged judicial opinions which talked about the need to mitigate prior felonies by showing the circumstances of what happened and make them not as serious as they might seem. (IX,T1524) Mr. Eler didn't do it because he doesn't like to dwell on the negative and didn't want to show that

Mr. Miller already had "one bite at the apple". (IX,T1524) Mr. Eler agreed that everybody already knew that Mr. Miller had "one bite at the apple" because both the jury and trial court were going to be told of the conviction irrespective of whether or not evidence of the facts surrounding it were presented. Mr. Eler admitted that giving the jury and trial judge information about the circumstances surrounding the prior conviction would not have allowed otherwise inadmissible evidence to come before the jury. (IX,T1573)

Mr. Eler acknowledged that an unexplained prior conviction for second-degree murder was a significant aggravating circumstance. (IC,T1525) Mr. Eler believed a reasonable way of dealing with this aggravator was to "gloss over it" and not let the State talk about it. (IC,T1526) Mr. Eler also acknowledged that he knew the State was not planning to put on testimony about the underlying facts of that conviction because he had seen their witness lsit. (XI,T1526) Mr. Eler presented nothing to mitigate the prior judgment for second-degree murder. (IX,T1527)

Mr. Eler did not present evidence of mental mitigation at the time of the instant homicide. (IX,T1524) Mr. Eler

didn't look at the psychological reports because he believed that Dr. Krop had, so he didn't present that evidence to the jury. (XI,T1525)

Mr. Eler was questioned on why he did not object to numerous arguments made by the State. (IX,T1527) Mr. Eler had no independent recollection of the particular points and had not reviewed the motion for post-conviction relief prior to testifying. (XI,T1527) Mr. Eler did not quarrel with what the transcripts reflected was argued by the State. (XI,T1528)

Mr. Eler agreed that an attorney in any case has the responsibility to preserve the errors in the proceedings for appellate review. (XI,T1529) Mr. Eler agreed that if an issue is not objected to at the trial level, it is waived for appeal unless it rises to the level of fundamental error. (XI,T1529) Mr. Eler acknowledged that appellate courts rarely find fundamental error, even though he hadn't done much research into fundamental error. (IX,T1563-1564) Mr. Eler agreed that it is important to object to improper argument by the State in certain instances. (IX,T1529-1530)

Mr. Eler doesn't object to argument over small issues because he doesn't want the jury to dislike him. But Mr. Eler did state that "...If there's fundamental error, I'm

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