# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID MILLER,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-892

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Initially, the State would note that Miller is foreclosed from raising an issue of improper prosecutorial argument for the first time on postconviction. Spencer v. State, supra, 842 So.2d at 60-61. Any issue of prosecutorial argument at trial may be addressed only in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel; Miller bore the burden to prove that trial counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial.

A. Miller first argues that the prosecutor argued nonstatutory aggravating circumstances by suggesting that Miller would have committed a second murder but for the intervention of Jimmy Hall. Although, as noted, Miller does not cite to the trial record or specifically identify the allegedly improper argument, in his motion for postconviction relief he cites to Volume 10, pp. 698, 703, 704, 710 and 716-17 of the original trial record (2R 209-10). The significant thing about these citations is that they are *all* to the guilt phase of the trial (the *penalty* phase arguments are in Volume 11). Thus, although it cannot be discerned from Miller's appellate brief, the arguments he is complaining about are all *guilt-phase* arguments. The prosecutor obviously was not arguing nonstatutory aggravation or any other penalty phase issue. Instead, the prosecutor was addressing the guilt-phase contested issue of Miller's state of mind, as it related to premeditation, which Miller vigorously contested at trial and on appeal. Because his arguments were reasonable inferences from the evidence and were relevant to a disputed guilt-phase issue, they were not objectionable.

Significantly, on appeal the State argued these same circumstances of the crime to argue that this was a first degree murder; noting that Miller had argued on appeal that "this was a killing caused by an accidental extreme use of force due to an impulsive act," the State argued:

Even Miller . . . admitted intentionally striking the victim; what he contended was that he only meant to knock the victim out and not to The kill him. jury, however, was plainly reject Miller's self-serving entitled to statements and testimony as unworthy of belief in light of all the circumstances of the case. Miller himself showed police how he had administered "full-blown" swings, raising the pipe over his head and swinging down to the victim's head (8R 536-37). Jimmie Hall testified that not only did Miller have both hands on the pipe and was swinging it "with full force" (7R 316), but the pipe was so dripping with the victims' blood that, with every swing, blood was "slung up on the wall and onto the ceiling" (7R The medical examiner testified that 318-19).

Miller hit Albert Floyd in the head at least three times. And the damage he did--crushing the victim's skull in three places, bursting his eyeball, and fracturing four of his teeth--is totally inconsistent with any claim that Miller only intended to knock out, not kill, the victim. And he did not attack only Floyd; when Linda Fullwood woke up and said something, Miller attacked her too. And even though, unlike Floyd, she was awake and able to throw her hands up to defend herself, and even though Miller was interrupted by the appearance of Jimmie Hall during his attack on Fullwood, Miller still severely injured her; she suffered a concussion, two broken fingers, several fractured ribs, and injuries to her arm severe enough to have required multiple surgeries. These simply are not the kinds of injuries caused by one who intended merely to knock someone out and "accidentally" used just a bit too much force. Because competent evidence existed from which reasonable jurors could infer premeditation to the exclusion of all other inferences, the trial court did not err in allowing the state's premeditation theory of first degree murder to go to the jury.

Answer Brief of Appellee, Case No. 93,792, pp. 35-37 (internal citations omitted).

As this Court noted in its opinion on direct appeal, Fullwood suffered "a concussion, one broken arm, two broken fingers and several fractured ribs." 770 So.2d at 1146-47 (fn. 2). Given the serious injuries that Miller inflicted to Linda Fullwood before being interrupted by Jimmy Hall, and the other evidence in the case, the prosecutor's argument was a reasonable inference from the evidence, and Miller's state of mind at a time contemporaneously to the attack on Albert Floyd was relevant to both premeditation and felony murder. The argument was not improper, and Eler did not perform deficiently by failing to object to it. Further, Miller does not suggest that any omission of trial counsel at the guilt phase was prejudicial, and, given the strength of the evidence, it could not have been.

**B.** Miller next complains that the prosecutor improperly vouched for the credibility of Jimmy Hall. He contends that a prosecutor may not express an opinion or even *imply* that a witness is telling the truth.

An attorney, including a prosecutor, should not argue facts not in evidence or express a personal opinion about the credibility of a witness. However, an attorney clearly is entitled argue reasonable inferences from the evidence and to argue credibility of witnesses or any other relevant issue so long as the argument is based on the evidence. Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 865 (Fla. 1987) ("When counsel refers to a witness or a defendant as being a 'liar,' and it is understood from the context that the charge is made with reference to testimony given by the characterized, the prosecutor is person thus merely submitting to the jury a conclusion that he is arguing can be drawn from the evidence. It was for the jury to decide what evidence and testimony was worthy of belief and the

prosecutor was merely submitting his view of the evidence to them for consideration."). Viewing the argument in context (10TR 716-18), it is clear that the prosecutor did not express his personal opinion or "vouch" for Hall. He simply argued based on the evidence that Hall's testimony was credible despite his felony convictions. Juries not only may, but should, evaluate witness credibility based on the evidence presented to them, and credibility arguments based upon the evidence and reasonable inferences from the evidence are not improper. Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544, 547 (Fla. 1993) ("It is improper to bolster a witness' testimony by vouching for his or her credibility. [Cit.] No improper bolstering occurred here, however. Rather, the prosecutor's comments simply drew the jury's attention to evidence of the expert's experience and qualifications after defense counsel sought to cast doubt on her testimony in cross-examination.").<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The cases cited by Miller do not say what he claims they say. For just one example, he claims that <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 747 So.2d 474, 475 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999) says it is reversible error for a prosecutor to argue that a witness is telling the truth. Initial Brief of Appellant at 73. What <u>Williams</u> really says is: "A prosecutor may argue any reasons, if supported by the evidence, why a given witness might or might not be biased in a case, but the prosecutor may not properly argue that a police officer must be believed simply because he is a police officer."

Eler's belief that the argument at issue was not an example of improper bolstering (9R 1533A-35) was not unreasonable, and the trial court correctly rejected Miller's claim that Eler was ineffective for failing to object to this argument.<sup>8</sup> In addition, Miller has failed to demonstrate prejudice.

C. Finally, Miller contends that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prosecutorial argument that Miller had not cared that the victim had a family and friends "who loved and cared for him," but wanted the jury to hear that Miller had people who loved and cared for him (7TR 946, 966). The State would note that Section 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. expressly allows the State to present and "argue" victim impact evidence. Moreover, our United State Supreme Court has explicitly recognized the State's "legitimate interest in counteracting the mitigating evidence which the defendant is entitled to put in, by reminding the sentencer that just as a murdered should be considered an individual, so too the victim is an individual whose death represents a unique loss to society

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Even if the argument had been objectionable, Eler reasonably could have decided not to object, but to respond to the State's argument in his own closing, as he did when he pointed out that Hall had testified only under threat of contempt, in contrast to Miller who had turned himself in and then testified voluntarily even though he could not have been compelled to do so (10TR 737, 744-45).

and in particular to his family." <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 825 (1991) (internal citations omitted). "[T]urning the victim into a faceless stranger at the penalty phase of a capital trial . . . deprives the State of the full moral force of its evidence and may prevent the jury from having before it all the information necessary to determine the proper punishment for a first-degree murder." Ibid (internal quotations and citations omitted).

The State would contend that the prosecutorial argument at issue here was not objectionable at all. Even if it were, however, trial counsel's decision to respond in his own closing rather than objecting cannot be deemed deficient attorney performance. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 838 So.2d 535, 542 (fn. 8) (Fla. 2003). The trial court properly rejected this claim of ineffectiveness.

### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND MILLER'S JURY-INSTRUCTION CLAIMS PROCEDURALLY BARRED. THEY ARE ALSO MERITLESS

Miller contends here that Florida's capital sentencing procedures are unconstitutional because jury instructions improperly shift the burden of proof, denigrate the role of the jury, and fail adequately to define mitigation. These obviously are claims that could and should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal. They may not be raised for the first time on postconviction. E.g., <u>Teffeteller v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 734 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1999). Thus, they are procedurally barred.

The State would note, in addition, that Miller's claim that the instructions given failed adequately to define mitigation was *not* raised below. Thus, it is additionally barred, as it was neither presented to, nor ruled upon, by the trial court. <u>Thomas v. State</u>, supra, 838 So.2d at 539.

Miller does not even argue that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to these instructions, but the State would note that trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to a standard jury instruction which had not been invalidated at the time of the trial (or since). <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 759 So.2d 650, 665 (Fla. 2000).

Finally, the claims raised here have been rejected repeatedly by this Court. See, e.g., <u>Burns v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 646, 654 (Fla. 1997) (rejecting claim that standard jury instructions denigrated role of jury); <u>Bowles v.</u> <u>State</u>, 804 So.2d 1173, 1177 (Fla. 2001) (rejecting claim that standard instructions failed to define mitigation adequately); <u>Demps v. Dugger</u>, 714 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1998) (rejecting claim that Florida's standard penalty-phase instructions improperly shift the burden of proof to the defendant).

The trial court correctly rejected the two claims that Miller presented below (5R 867-68). The remaining claim has not been preserved for appeal, and is both procedurally barred and meritless.

### ISSUE V

MILLER'S CLAIM THAT DEATH IS NOT AN APPROPRIATE SENTENCE IN THIS CASE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS

Miller contends, as he did below, that he is "innocent" of the death penalty. His argument, however, bears no resemblance to that raised below. In Claim V of his motion for postconviction relief, Mungin asserted that he was innocent of the death penalty because the sentencing court erred in instructing the jury on, and finding, the prior violent felony aggravator and the pecuniary-gain aggravator (2R 219-21). The trial court summarily denied this claim, noting that Miller's 1986 conviction for second degree murder had not been set aside and remained a valid conviction, that this Court had upheld the use of contemporaneously-committed felonies (here, aggravated battery of Linda Fullwood) to support a finding of the prior violent felony aggravator, and that the pecuniary gain aggravator had been properly found (2R 865-66).

Miller does not complain about this finding on appeal; instead, he argues that "substantial" mitigation presented at the evidentiary hearing, including evidence of Miller's mental problems at the time of the 1986 murder, his abusive and dysfunctional family and the results of the PET scan, compel reconsideration of the proportionality of his Much of this has been addressed previously. sentence. There was in fact no "substantial" new mitigation. That Miller had some mental issues was known to the jury and to the trial court. His mental issues are the same now. Dr Krop's opinion remains the same. No reliable "new" family background evidence has emerged, except that we now know of an additional act of violence by Miller against a member of his own family. The results of the PET scan offer nothing new; indeed, to the extent that Dr. Holder's testimony is credited, Dr. Krop's finding of frontal lobe deficit is, if anything, weakened.

This Court addressed the issue of proportionality on direct appeal. Its ruling is the law of the case. Miller is not entitled to relitigate that issue merely because he would have tried the case differently. Miller has shown no "exceptional circumstances" or "manifest injustice" as would justify reconsideration of an issue already decided by this Court on his direct appeal. State

v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715, 720 (Fla. 1997) ("this Court has the power to reconsider and correct erroneous rulings in exceptional circumstances and where reliance on the previous decision would result in manifest injustice"). Moreover, having failed to show deficient attorney performance or prejudice on the part of trial counsel, Miller cannot demonstrate that his death sentence is disproportionate. The same reasons that support trial counsel's judgment about what to present and what to hold back, and that support the absence of any prejudice from trial counsel's decisions, also support the rejection of any reconsideration of Miller's proportionality claim.

### ISSUE VI

# MILLER'S "RING" CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS

The State will not belabor this claim. Miller does not even argue that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to contest the role of judge versus jury in Florida's capital sentencing procedures. He merely presents a direct merits argument. Because no such claim was raised at trial or on direct appeal, it is procedurally barred on postconviction. Furthermore, his claim is meritless. Not only does the prior violent felony aggravator take this case outside any possible ambit of <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), but his Court has now expressly held that <u>Ring</u> is not retroactive. <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 30 Fla.L.Weekly S297 (Fla. April 28, 2005) ("we now hold that Ring does not apply retroactively in Florida").

### ISSUE VII

MILLER'S "AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATOR" CLAIM WAS PROPERLY REJECTED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AN MERITLESS; MILLER'S OTHER COMPLAINTS ABOUT FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEDURES WERE NOT RAISED BELOW AND ARE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL

Miller contended in Claim XIV of his motion for postconviction relief that the committed-during-a-robbery aggravator is unconstitutional because it is an "automatic" aggravator (2R 237-38). The trial court correctly found this claim to be procedurally barred for failure to raise it at trial and on direct appeal, and also meritless. See, e.g., <u>Parker v. State</u>, 873 So.2d 270, 286 (fn. 12) (Fla. 2004); Hudson v. State, 708 So.2d 256, 262 (Fla. 1998).

Miller now makes additional claims of defects in Florida's capital sentencing procedures that he did not make below, either in Ground XIV (which he cites to in his brief, Initial Brief of Appellant at 95) or, insofar as the State can determine, anywhere else in his of his motion for postconviction relief.<sup>9</sup> Thus, his additional claims have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Ground XI alleges that Florida's capital sentencing "scheme" is unconstitutional on its face, but only on the

not been preserved for appeal. They are also procedurally barred for failure to raise them at trial and on direct appeal. Finally, they are meritless. This Court has repeatedly rejected claims that Florida's capital sentencing procedures are constitutional. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Fotopoulos</u> v. State, 608 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1992).

## CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the judgment below should be affirmed.